
Meeting Minutes 
June 1, 2023 
 

1 
 

MINUTES OF MECKLENBURG COUNTY, NORTH CAROLINA  
BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 

 
 
The Board of Commissioners of Mecklenburg County, North Carolina, met in Special Session- 
Straw Vote Workshop, in the Valerie Woodard Conference center located at 3205 Freedom drive, 
Charlotte, North Carolina at 9:00 a.m. on Thursday, June 1, 2023.  
 
 

ATTENDANCE 
 
 
Present:  Chair George Dunlap, Vice Chair Elaine Powell,  

and Commissioners Leigh Altman, Patricia “Pat” Cotham,  
Arthur Griffin, Vilma D. Leake, Laura J Meier,   
and Susan Rodriguez- McDowell 
County Manager Dena R. Diorio 
County Attorney Tyrone C. Wade 
Clerk to the Board Kristine M. Smith 
Deputy Clerk to the Board Arlissa Eason 
 
 

Absent:  Commissioner Mark Jerrell  
 
 
CALL TO ORDER  

 
The meeting was called to order by Chair Dunlap, followed by introductions and the Pledge of 
Allegiance to the Flag. 
 
Chair Dunlap explained how the straw votes would be conducted. 
 
Commissioner Rodriguez-McDowell asked what the distinction was between the CMS CIP and 
the CMS bonds.  County Manager Diorio and Chief Financial Officer David Boyd explained the 
difference. 
 
 
23-0370 BUDGET STRAW VOTE WORKSHOP  
 
The Board reviewed the County Manager's Recommended Budget for FY2023-2024 and would 
take action as may be deemed appropriate, including straw votes.  
 
Adrian Cox, Budget Director made the presentation.  
 
Background: This is the time the Board takes straw votes and directs staff to prepare a Budget 
Ordinance for FY2023-2024, which is scheduled for adoption on June 6, 2023. 
  



Meeting Minutes 
June 1, 2023 
 

2 
 

 



Meeting Minutes 
June 1, 2023 
 

3 
 

 
 
Commissioner Rodriguez-McDowell said they received a letter from the Sheriff regarding a 
$122,000 maintenance item. County Manager Diorio said there was plenty of money to fund that 
amount internally and that it didn’t need to be added to the budget.  
 
Commissioner Rodriguez-McDowell said the Sheriff was asking for $2,500 bonuses for his hourly 
employees which could come from lapsed salaries and asked if the Sheriff had the ability to give 
bonuses as he saw fit for retention.  County Manager Diorio said if they gave bonuses, they were 
across the board for all County employees said would not support giving bonuses to one segment 
of the employee base.  Human Resources Director Keisha Young said he could use lapsed salaries 
if it was authorized but agreed with County Manager Diorio.  
 
Chair Dunlap said, a department couldn’t collect lapse salaries, as they are all considered County 
dollars.  He said those dollars reverted back to the County budget. 



Meeting Minutes 
June 1, 2023 
 

4 
 

Commissioner Powell said she did not feel the questions she asked were answered in enough 
detail regarding if the Sheriff and his office were consulted in the decision-making process. She 
asked about her question regarding the training facility.   
 
Chair Dunlap said Central Piedmont Community College was where every resident of the County 
could go to have law enforcement training.  He said the training facility for the Sheriff’s 
Department would be for their department only, therefore, by have the facility located at the 
college it could be used by everyone.  He said there should be some discussions among the 
college, the Sheriff’s Department, and CMPD.  County Manager Diorio said the training facility 
was CPCC’s number one priority, and they gave up a host of projects to get it.  She said the Sheriff 
received many of the priorities he wanted also. 
 
Commissioner Powell asked what next year’s CIP would look like. Mr. Boyd said they would refine 
all the assumptions in the current financial model and look at revenue projections, which would 
then inform how much capacity they had in the next year. He said the plan was to add another 
year of projects each year. 
 
Chair Dunlap said that potentially, based on cost escalations, it could cost more to do projects 
that were currently in the CIP.   He said if projects come in under budget they could possibly come 
back to the Board and say they could include another project. 
 
There was more discussion on the understanding of the 5-year CIP. 
 
Mr. Cox continued his presentation. 
 

 
 



Meeting Minutes 
June 1, 2023 
 

5 
 

 



Meeting Minutes 
June 1, 2023 
 

6 
 

 



Meeting Minutes 
June 1, 2023 
 

7 
 

 



Meeting Minutes 
June 1, 2023 
 

8 
 

 



Meeting Minutes 
June 1, 2023 
 

9 
 

 



Meeting Minutes 
June 1, 2023 
 

10 
 

 



Meeting Minutes 
June 1, 2023 
 

11 
 

 



Meeting Minutes 
June 1, 2023 
 

12 
 

 



Meeting Minutes 
June 1, 2023 
 

13 
 

 



Meeting Minutes 
June 1, 2023 
 

14 
 

 



Meeting Minutes 
June 1, 2023 
 

15 
 

 



Meeting Minutes 
June 1, 2023 
 

16 
 

 



Meeting Minutes 
June 1, 2023 
 

17 
 

 



Meeting Minutes 
June 1, 2023 
 

18 
 

 



Meeting Minutes 
June 1, 2023 
 

19 
 

 



Meeting Minutes 
June 1, 2023 
 

20 
 

 
Comments 
 
EDUCATION: 
Commissioner Griffin made a motion to decrease CMS budget line 5 (MARKET & EQUITY PAY 
ADJUSTMENTS) by 1,812,090.  Motion failed (3-5) with Commissioners Griffin, Cotham and Leake 
voting yes and Commissioners Meier, Dunlap, Powell, Rodriguez-McDowell, and Altman voting 
no. 
 
 
FUND BALANCE: 
Commissioner Altman made a motion to increase line item 1 (NON-DEPARTMENTAL - LAND 
ACQUISITION IN SUPPORT OF ELAP) $20M for a total of $50M for land acquisition. The motion 
carried 5-3 with Commissioners Altman, Dunlap, Meier, Powell, and Rodriguez-McDowell voting 
yes and Commissioners Cotham, Griffin and Leake voting no. 



Meeting Minutes 
June 1, 2023 
 

21 
 

COMMUNITY SUPPORT SERVICES  
Commissioner Griffin made a motion to decrease line 9 (COMMUNITY SUPPORT SERVICES – 
HOME FOR ALL INVESTMENTS IN AFFORDABLE HOUSING FUND) by $1,075,000.  He said in the 
Home for All presentation it stated this nonprofit should not provide direct services in housing 
and homelessness so that it could serve as a neutral convener and facilitator.  He said he would 
rather see those funds used for direct services.   
 
Chair Dunlap said this started as a result of tent city.  He said the nonprofit organization was 
selected to house the work and focus on homelessness. He said they decided United Way would 
be the organization, but it was still the County’s responsibility to fund it.   
 
Commissioner Powell asked if we committed at this level.  County Manager Diorio said they did 
not commit to any level.  She said that last year, funds were provided to hire staff and a consultant 
and that it was a direct result of the implementation plan.  She said it was the expectation that 
the County would be the initial funder and other funders would come along.  She said these were 
the first priorities that could have the most impact the quickest.   
 
Commissioner Powell asked if there were any funds included for rapid rehousing.  County 
Manager Diorio said there was money for an emergency rental assistance pilot and for landlord 
recruitment for landlords to accept vouchers.   
 
County Manager Diorio stated that Crisis Assistance would only give someone rental assistance 
if they had an eviction notice. She said this was a different strategy to assist before an eviction 
notice.   
 
Motion failed 1-7 with Commissioner Griffin voting yes and Commissioner Altman, Cotham, 
Dunlap, Leake, Meier, Powell, and Rodriguez-McDowell voting no decrease line 9 (COMMUNITY 
SUPPORT SERVICES – HOME FOR ALL INVESTMENTS IN AFFORDABLE HOUSING FUND) by 
$1,075,000.     
 
Commissioner Leake made a motion to purchase another mobile market van, line item 21 (CHILD, 
FAMILY & ADULT SERVICES).    
 
Chair Dunlap said the driver would be hired from the operating budget. County Manager Diorio 
said it could take eight months before getting the van on the road. She said the need for a second 
van would need to be identified.  
 
Commissioner Griffin voiced his support for a second van.  
 
Deputy County Manager Anthony Trotman said an assessment of the need had to be done before 
making a full recommendation.    
 
Commissioner Altman asked if Commissioner Leake would be willing to put the money in 
restricted contingency for further information and a recommendation.  Mr. Trotman said an 
additional mobile market would benefit the community. 
 
Commissioner Cotham said the need was tremendous as there was a problem with food deserts 
and the prices in the grocery store were high.   
 
Chair Dunlap asked if it was a better use of money to have it sit on the side and not impact any 
other areas of the budget or let them do the policy council and determine the need and put in 
next year’s budget. 
 
Motion carried 6-2 with Commissioners Altman, Cotham, Griffin, Leake, Meier, and Powell voting 



Meeting Minutes 
June 1, 2023 
 

22 
 

yes and Commissioners Dunlap and Rodriguez-McDowell voting no. 
 
Commissioner Meier made a motion to add $2M to the fund balance for Charlotte Rescue 
Mission.  
 
Commissioner Cotham stated that she did not support this as it would be unfair to other similar 
organizations. 
 
Motion failed 4-4 with Commissioners Altman, Dunlap, Meier, and Rodriguez-McDowell voting 
yes and Commissioners Cotham, Griffin, Leake, and Powell voting no.    
 
Commissioner Powell asked if the County funded any type of animal control.  Mr. Cox said no. 
 
Dr. Washington said the County was responsible for rabies control regarding humans. 
 
Commissioner Griffin asked about the steps for the Meck Success pilot program. County Manager 
Diorio said the pilot program would take several months to set up. She said the capacity to serve 
25 families was the best they could do. She said they wouldn’t have it off the ground until 
potentially the third quarter of 2024. 
 
Commissioner Rodriguez McDowell made a motion to add $2 million of Fund Balance to Loaves 
and Fishes for their capital campaign.  County Manager Diorio said they were doing a capital 
campaign for a new warehouse on the west side.  She said the County gave them $2M already in 
ARPA funds.  She said they have engaged a professional firm to assist with the campaign.    
 
Commissioner Rodriguez McDowell stated that they had not met their goal. 
 
Chair Dunlap asked how it would be known if they already had the mechanism to fund their 
project and they would just be adding on not knowing how it was going to impact the project.   
 
Commissioner Cotham said Loaves and Fishes was a well-oiled machine and had the wherewithal 
and corporate and community support to raise money. She said she was confident they would 
do a great job; however, she did not support the $2M.  
 
Commissioner Altman asked Commissioner Rodriguez-McDowell if she would accept the $2M 
being put in restrictive contingency pending due diligence.   
 
Commissioner Rodriguez-McDowell restated her motion to give $2m to Loaves and Fishes and 
put in restrictive contingency until the manager conducted due diligence.  The motion failed (3-
5) with Commissioners Altman, Meier, and Rodriguez-McDowell voting yes, and Commissioners 
Cotham, Dunlap, Griffin, Leake, and Powell voting no.   
 
Commissioner Powell made a motion to take $4 million from Fund Balance for McDowell 
Greenway Phase 3.  
 
Commissioner Cotham said there were other greenways and could get monies from the state.  
She said she could not support it at this time.  
 
Chair Dunlap said this was a proposal to come out of CIP.  Chair Dunlap stated it was a larger issue 
than where the money was coming from.  He said it was an issue of fairness. He said there was a 
priority list, and to circumvent the process to take the money out of fund balance would be a 
disadvantage to everyone else. 
 
Commissioner Powell’s motion failed 3-5 with Commissioners Powell, Meier and Rodriguez-



Meeting Minutes 
June 1, 2023 
 

23 
 

McDowell voting yes, and Commissioners Altman, Cotham, Dunlap, Griffin, and Leake voting no. 
 
County Manager Diorio asked the Board to be cautious of how much they fund from Fund 
Balance.   
 
Commissioner Meier asked if the County would lose some money in the partnerships, the D.O.T. 
and the State for some of the greenways.  County Manager Diorio said they asked Park and Rec 
to go back and look at both of those projects and that there were mechanisms to ask for 
extensions.   
 
Commissioner Powell made a motion to use $4.7M from fund balance to update Springfield Park 
in District 2.   Commissioner Powell’s motion failed 3-5 with Commissioners Powell, Meier and 
Rodriguez-McDowell voting yes, and Commissioners Altman, Cotham, Dunlap, Griffin, and Leake 
voting no. 
 
Chair Dunlap requested $10,000 be allocated for the community relations committee awards 
program. He requested $3,000-sponsorship, and the rest, $7,000, to help put the program on.  
The straw vote failed 4-4 with Commissioners Altman, Cotham, Dunlap, and Griffin voting yes and 
Commissioners Leake, Meier Powell and Rodriguez-McDowell voting no.  
 
Chair Dunlap requested $20,000 for the Metrolina Native American Association Powwow. County 
Manager Diorio the $20,000 for the powwow could come from economic development. The straw 
vote was approved at 5-3 with Commissioners Altman, Cotham, Dunlap, Griffin, and Meier voting 
yes, and Commissioner Leake, Powe and Rodriguez-McDowell voting no. 
 
Adrian Cox requested staff to put together a budget ordinance for consideration at the next 
meeting that will total $2,361,525,549 at the tax rate of 47.31 on $100 of property valuation.  
 
Motion was made by Commissioner Altman, seconded by Commissioner Rodriguez-McDowell, and 
unanimously carried (8-0) with Commissioners Altman, Cotham, Griffin, Leake, Meier, Powell, and 
Rodriguez-McDowell, voting yes, to approve the budget ordinance as amended.   
 
CMS CIP 
 
Commissioner Griffin submitted a motion on CMS’s CIP with the option of reducing the $2.5B to 
$1B so as not to increase the tax rate. He stated that if the rolling CIP was done, the assessment 
could be done. He said he according to the forecast, in 2027 – 2028 the tax increase would continue 
to go up. 
 
Chair Dunlap stated if there are tax implications more than 4 years out, prior to that there would 
be another revaluation.  County Manager Diorio said they used a growth factor of 2.88% above 
the revenue-neutral rate.  She said that was how they calculated a revenue-neutral rate today. 
She said the next reval would be in 2027.  
 
Commissioner Cotham voiced her support as the raise in taxes would further raise rents for people 
who were already struggling.  She said there was still a lot of angst in the community with CMS 
during Covid.  She said she believed they would vote against the bonds. 
 
Commissioner Leake said she was speaking for seniors who had a meeting in District 2. She said 
the concern was property taxes going up and not being able to pay them. She said she was asked 
not to support $2.5B.  She said they wanted to support the school system. 
 
Commissioner Altman said they wanted to be sure residents were able to stay in their homes and 
didn’t want them to be displaced because they couldn’t afford an increase in property taxes.  She 



Meeting Minutes 
June 1, 2023 
 

24 
 

asked regarding the Homes Program, what the original fund for this fiscal year, what it was 
projected to be next year and how many people it would help, and if the County could meet the 
need.  County Manager Diorio said the fund was at $250,000 and would be expanded to $14 million. 
She said they had no idea how many it would help, as they would have to do the analysis.  She said 
they would examine what metrics to use to determine low-income eligibility and be state-compliant.  
She said they would come back to the Board if necessary.  She said the application process would 
open in July and that tax bills weren’t due until January. 
 
Chair Dunlap talked about what was already voted on for CMS.  He said the bond request was to 
ensure kids were in the best learning environment and that voting no on the bonds would not 
impact the tax increase. 
 
County Manager Diorio said the 1.6 cent tax increase was already approved. 
 
Commissioner Powell asked if all the projects were written in stone for the $2.5B.  County 
Manager Diorio said that was the list that was given to the Board.  
 
Commissioner Rodriguez-McDowell said the list was $3B.  County Manager Diorio said after 
speaking with the superintendent, they stated they could touch every project on the list for $2.5B. 
 
Chair Dunlap said they were voting on what amount to put before the public to vote on when 
they vote on the bonds.  He said the public would approve or not approve $2.5B.   
He said if they didn’t support it, CMS and the County would have to come up with an alternate 
plan.  He said If the public supported it, it would be out of the Board’s hands.   
 
Commissioner Griffin’s motion failed 3-5 with Commissioners Griffin, Cotham and Leake voting yes 
and Commissioners Altman, Dunlap, Meier, Powell, and Rodriguez-McDowell voting no to reduce 
CMS’s CIP amount from $2.5B to $1B. 
 
Commissioner Meier made a motion, seconded by Commissioner Powell to adopt the County 
Manager's recommendation of $2.5 billion for CMS. The straw vote was approved 5-3 with 
Commissioners Altman, Dunlap, Meier, Powell, and Rodriguez-McDowell voting yes and Griffin, 
Cotham and Leake voting no. 
 
Commissioner Leake made a motion to accept the County’s CIP budget. 
  
Commissioner Powell made an amended motion to add $4M for the McDowell Creek Greenway 
Phase 3 to the manager's CIP. The motion failed 3-5, with Commissioners Meier, Powell, and 
Rodriguez-McDowell voting yes, and Commissioners Altman, Cotham, Dunlap, Griffin, and Leake 
voting no. 
 
Commissioner Rodriguez-McDowell asked about expanding the CIP to include the Sheriff’s $86.6M 
training facility and the $20.1M for the Courthouse.  She made an amended motion to expand CIP 
by $106M.  County Manager Diorio stated that if projects were added, other projects had to be cut. 
 
The motion failed 3-5 with Commissioners Meier, Powell, and Rodriguez-McDowell voting yes, 
and Commissioners Altman, Cotham, Dunlap, Griffin, and Leake voting no. 
 
Commissioner Rodriguez-McDowell made an amended motion to delay one of the CRC projects 
into the next year’s Rolling CIP, reducing the CIP by $106M and adding the Sheriff’s $86.6M 
training facility and the $20.1M for the Courthouse’s 7th Floor buildout. 
 
Commissioner Cotham said she could not support the motion.  
 



Meeting Minutes 
June 1, 2023 
 

25 
 

Commissioner Griffin stated that he wanted to work on improving services to assist the ability of 
individuals in Charlotte to grow into the middle class.  
 
Commissioner Meier said she just asked for them to consider a delay to see where they were in a 
year.   
 
Commissioner Powell said this was the Sheriff's Department's top priority, and it was up to the 
Board to see how this item could fit in. She said the Sheriff was willing to give up the $47M for the 
headquarters which was $39.6M for construction. She said she didn’t see it as an impossibility.   
 
Commissioner Cotham stated that she could not support a delay.  She said the people couldn’t 
wait, that this was critical to getting them the help they needed.  
 
Commissioner Leake commented that the County Manager was asked to recommend how to 
alleviate poverty and did not want any delays. She said poverty and violence was a part of 
continuing to delay this project. 
 
Commissioner Griffin said low-income people stay in the same area.  He said they didn’t move 
away, they move around.  He said it was known where the needs were, and they needed to be 
addressed.  He said he supported the County Manager's recommendation.  
 
Commissioner Rodriguez-McDowell voiced concerns about balance in the budget.  She said they 
needed to look at the needs for training for law enforcement.   She said they had to be in balance 
with what they were funding and stated that all areas had to be invested in. 
 
Commissioner Rodriguez-McDowell’s amended motion to delay one of the CRC projects into the 
next year’s Rolling CIP, reducing it by $106M and adding the Sheriff’s $86.6M training facility and 
the $20.1M for the Courthouse’s 7th Floor buildout failed 3-5 with Commissioners Meier, Powell, 
and Rodriguez-McDowell voting yes, and Commissioners Altman, Cotham, Dunlap, Griffin, and 
Leake voting no. 
 
Commissioner Leake’s motion to adopt the manager's recommended CIP carried 6-2 with 
Commissioners Altman, Cotham, Dunlap, Griffin, Leake, and Meier voting yes and Commissioners 
Powell and Rodriguez-McDowell voting no.  
 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
Motion was made by Commissioner Leake, seconded by Commissioner Altman, and unanimously 
carried (8-0) with Commissioners Altman, Cotham, Griffin, Leake, Meier, Powell, and Rodriguez-
McDowell, voting yes, to adjourn.   

 
With no further business to come before the Board, Chair Dunlap declared the meeting 
adjourned at 11:28 a.m. 
 
 
 
 
______________________________ ____________________________ 
Kristine M. Smith, Clerk to the Board George Dunlap, Chair 


	MINUTES OF MECKLENBURG COUNTY, NORTH CAROLINA
	ATTENDANCE


